UNITED
NATIONS E

Di str.

Economic and Social GENERAL

Council

E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR 34
22 January 1998

ENGLI SH
Original: FRENCH

COWM TTEE ON ECONOM C, SOCI AL AND CULTURAL RI GHTS
Sevent eent h session
SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 34t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Thursday, 20 Novenber 1997, at 3 p.m

Chai rperson: M. RATTRAY

CONTENTS
CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (conti nued)

Third periodic report of lraqg (continued)

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the neetings of the Conmttee at this
session will be consolidated in a single corrigendumto be issued shortly
after the end of the session

GE. 97-19433 (E)



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 34
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.05 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS

(a) REPORTS SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTIES | N ACCORDANCE W TH ARTI CLES 16
AND 17 OF THE COVENANT (agenda item 6) (continued)

Third periodic report of Iraqg (continued) (E 1994/104/Add.9
E/C. 12/ Q I RAQ 1; HR/ CESCR/ NONE/ 97/ 3; FE/ C. 12/ A1 RAQ 2)

Articles 1 to 5 of the Covenant (conti nued)

1. At the invitation of the Chairperson, M. Dhary and M. Salnman (lraq)
took places at the Conmittee table.

2. M. DHARY (Iraqg) said that there was no discrimnation in the
distribution of foodstuffs. The ration-card systemhad made it possible to
distribute limted quantities of food to the whol e popul ati on wi thout any
discrimnation, as attested by various reports frominternationa

organi zations such as the United Nations Devel opnment Programe (UNDP) and the
Food and Agriculture O ganization of the United Nations (FAO. The

United Nations itself had decided to adopt that systemin order to supervise
the distribution of food under the oil for food procedure (Security Counci
resolutions 705 (1991) and 712 (1991)). It could not be said that the Iraq
Government was di scrimnating against the Kurdi sh provinces, since

United Nations bodies were in charge of distributing food under that
procedure. The Iraqi CGovernnent could not have inposed an econoni c enbargo on
the northern provinces, as they were conpletely beyond its sovereignty.

3. In answer to M. Texier, he said that there was al so no social or
cultural discrimnation against the Kurds, Turknmen, Shia or different
religious denom nations. That applied in the universities, as attested by the
criteria for adm ssion and the conposition of the teaching staff. Wth regard
to housing, evictions could take place only in accordance with the law, for

exanple if the dwelling had been acquired illegally or was on | and bel ongi ng
to the State or other persons, although that did not prevent the authorities
fromshowing flexibility. In any event, arbitrary evictions were prohibited

by law. It was not true that the Shia were not allowed to reside in Baghdad,
since there were hundreds of thousands of them out of a popul ation of
4 mllion, living in that city.

4, In reply to M. Thapalia, he said that once ratified and published in
the Oficial Gazette, international treaties and covenants were incorporated
into donestic |law and nodified any statute or provision contrary to them
They were al so enforceable. Regarding accession to an optional protocol to
the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, his
Gover nment woul d exam ne that question when the protocol had been el aborat ed.
There were several human rights commissions in lragq. The comm ssion
establ i shed under the Parlianent was one of the npost inportant and it was

i ndependent of the executive. Wthin the Mnistry of Foreign Affairs there
was al so an advi sory conmi ssion, nade up of independent experts and not ci vi
servants, with responsibility for helping to inplenment the human rights
conventions. |In addition, there was the Human Ri ghts Associ ation, an



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 34
page 3

i ndependent non-governnental organi zati on (NGO whose nenbers visited prisons
and exam ned human rights violations. The Governnent took a firm stand on
human rights violations, and the perpetrators were brought to justice and
puni shed.

5. Replying to M. Antanovich, he said that the Covenant had been published
in the Oficial Gazette and that its fundanental principles were taught in
secondary schools and at universities. Human rights were taught in politica
science and | aw faculties and students were encouraged to wite theses on that
subject. He would personally nmake sure that the public was well i nforned
about the provisions of the Covenant. NGOs were consulted and sone of them

i ncluding the General Federation of Iraqgi Wnen, took part in preparing
reports submtted to the treaty bodies.

6. In reply to a question put by M. Sadi, he said that since 1991 Iraq had
been able to neet only a very small proportion of its needs for medicines and
medi cal equi pnent, a fact that accounted for many deaths. Concerning the role
of women, their participation was higher in Iraq than in nei ghbouring
countries. Wonen held senior positions in the adm nistration. There were
several wonen serving as judges or nenbers of Parlianment. Many wonen were

al so university professors or | awers.

7. He assured M's. Bonoan-Dandan that his del egation attached great
i mportance to dialogue with the Conmttee and was endeavouring to reply as far
as possible to the questions raised.

8. Replying to M. Wner's question about discrimnation agai nst wonmen, he
said that wonen were legally and financially independent under Islanmic |aw.
Worren kept their maiden nanmes when they married. The equality of nmen and
wonren was ensured with one exception: when inheriting fromtheir parents,
wonen received only half the share of nen.

9. M. W MER observed that the del egati on had spoken about discrimnation
agai nst wonen in its witten replies (HR CESCR/ NONE/ 97/3), but had not said
anyt hi ng about discrimnation against national mnorities or mnority
churches. He would also like the delegation to define what it neant by
“sect”.

10. M. DHARY replied that there was no discrimnation of any kind, whether
| egal, administrative or political, based on race, sex, religion or place of
birth. Al the comunities lived normally and there were many m xed
marriages. He was surprised to have been asked about the Jewi sh comrunity.
The few Jews who lived in Iraq had their own synagogue, went to school and
university and were not oppressed in any way.

11. In response to a question from M. Kouznetsov, he said that Iraq had not
been in a position to inplenent the provisions of the Covenant fully, since
the embargo on its petrol eum exports had deprived it of its principal source
of revenue. The Government was, however, endeavouring to mitigate the effects
of that enbargo. Lastly, he agreed with Ms. Jinmenez Butraguefio that it was
regrettable that Irag had no constitutional court and said he would put that
guestion to the conpetent authorities.



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR 34
page 4

12. M. GRISSA expressed surprise that lraq, with its fertile land irrigated
by such a river as the Tigris, could not feed its people. One m ght have

t hought that the enbargo would have had a salutary influence on Iragq
agriculture, just as the continental bl ockade had proven beneficial to the
French economy in the nineteenth century, when substitute crops, notably sugar
beet, had been successfully introduced.

13. M. TEXIER said that he was puzzled by the reply of the representative
of lrag on the question of discrimnation. Discrimnation was said generally
not to exist, but that statenent was not borne out by United Nations sources.
Al nost all the reports of the Special Rapporteur of the Conm ssion on Human

Ri ghts on the situation of human rights in lraq referred, at |east from 1993
to 1996, to discrimnation of various kinds, including an internal economc
enbargo affecting the northern part of the country and discrimnatory
practices limting access to health-care services and foodstuffs in the south.
He would like the Iraqgi delegation to give the Comrittee sone specific answers
and say, for exanple, whether discrimnation could be observed in the
conmposition of official bodies and the civil service or in the distribution of
ai d anong the various geographical regions of the country.

14. He woul d also like to know whether Iraq had carried out the |egislative
changes it had been requested to nmake by the Comrittee on the Elim nation of

Di scrimnation against Wonen with a view to applying the principle of equality
of the sexes, as recognized by the Iraqi Constitution and, of course, by the
Convention on the Elimnation of Al Fornms of Discrimnation agai nst Wnen.
What anendnents, if any, had been nmade?

15. Lastly, concerning discrimnation against wonen in the field of

enpl oynent, the International Labour Organization (ILO took the view that
article 4, section Il, of the Labour Act, although providing for equa
remuneration for work of the same nature and anount performed under identica
conditions, did not respect the principle of equal pay for equal work. The

I LO Conmittee of Experts had indicated to Iraq that it would be grateful if it
could anend that provision. Had that been done? |If not, could the del egation
explain why and indicate whether Iraq was intending to do so.

16. M. DHARY (Iraq), replying to M. Gissa' s question concerning
agriculture in Ilraq, said that although agriculture was flourishing, the

out put was not sufficient to neet the country's requirenents. The enbargo
meant that Iraqg could not obtain machinery, technol ogy, pesticides, herbicides
and everything else it needed to devel op that sector. Mdyreover, the ban on
overflights of Iraqi territory would in any case nake it inpossible to carry
out the necessary crop spraying by air.

17. Wth regard to M. Texier's question concerning the discrimnation said
to have been reported by M. van der Stoel, the Special Rapporteur of the
Commi ssion on Human Rights on the situation of human rights in Iraq, he was
surprised that Iraq could be accused of discrimnating against the Kurds when
they were strongly represented in senior adm nistrative posts, as governors or
mnisters of State, and in the universities. The Vice-President of the

Nati onal Assenbly was a Kurd. A Kurdish-|anguage newspaper was published in
Baghdad, although it was not a Kurdish province. Kurdish was taught as a
second | anguage i n Baghdad in secondary schools. As to the issue of



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 34
page 5

discrimnation in matters of inheritance referred to by M. Texier, it was
true that, on their father's death, the sons received twi ce as nmuch of the
estate as the daughters. That was to be explained by the Sharia: in Iraq
soci ety men were financially responsible for their w ves, even if they were
mllionaires. Abolishing that rule concerning matters of succession would be
tantamount to rejecting Islam Wth that one exception, there was no

di scrimnation against wonen in lragq. Furthernmore, there was no such
discrimnation, contrary to M. Texier's understanding, in respect of wages
and sal aries, whether in the public or in the private sector

18. M. RIEDEL remarked that the only precise figures given in the
Governnent's replies concerned the nunber of wonen in the field of education
He would like to have sonme figures on other sectors, particularly the
"services" sector. What exactly did the term"services" cover and what
functions were perfornmed by wonen in that sphere? Were they largely in
subordi nate positions?

19. M. CEAUSU inquired as to whether aliens residing legally in Iraq
recei ved food coupons in the sane way as all Iraqi citizens. Could they also
exercise their econom c, social and cultural rights?

20. M . ADEKUOYE asked whet her wonmen were free to travel and inquired about
the status of aliens, nmany of whom had reportedly been forced to accept Iraq
citizenship. Could the delegation confirmthat latter point? Also, to avoid
an unequal distribution of property between children - which, whatever the
reason, still constituted discrimnation - could a parent, during his
lifetime, give the sane share to each of his children, w thout distinction
based on sex?

21. M. ANTANOVI CH said that he would like Iraqg to make some tools of
econonm ¢ and social analysis available to the Commttee to enable it to
understand the situation. The replies to the questions were far too general
Concerning the right to work, what was the unenpl oynment rate in general and
the rate of unenpl oynent anong young people, particularly those graduating
fromuniversity?

22. M. THAPALIA said that he would |like to know why wonen had to be
acconpani ed by a male nmenber of their famly when they went out and why they
were not allowed to go abroad, for exanple, to study at a university.

23. M. DHARY (lraqg), replying to M. Riedel, who had requested nore

i nformati on on the proportion of wonen in sectors other than education, said
t hat women accounted for nore than 40 per cent of all enployees in the civi
servi ce and governnent bodies. That figure could be explained by the fact
that nmen were nore attracted towards professional occupations in lrag or by
posts abroad.

24. By “services” was neant all services - social services, health services,
and so on - that were accessible to all segments of the Iraqi population, from
very young children to ol der persons. Those services, however, |acked
everything - medicines, tools, surgical instrunents, anbul ances, etc. - and

t he whol e popul ation suffered fromthe shortage of food and nedi cal supplies.



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 34
page 6

Legal aliens in Iraq received food coupons just like Iraqgi citizens and were
treated in the same way. There were, however, fewer of themthan in the past
and for their entire stay they were subject to Iraqgi |aws.

25. Replying to M. Adekuoye and M. Thapalia, he said that Iragi wonen
could not travel alone and in recent years, because of the circunstances, they
had to be acconpanied by a nmale nenber of their fam |y whomthey could not
marry. In the past they had al so been able to go abroad to study. Concerning
the sharing of property between children, w thout discrimnation as to sex,
parents were free to act at their own discretion

26. Regardi ng M. Antanovich's question, unenploynment had increased greatly
since 1991 because of the enbargo inposed on Irag. Lack of resources had
forced the majority of factories to close and the reduction in economc
activity had affected the enpl oynent situation

Article 6

27. M. TEXIER said that he would |like to have sone statistical data on
unenpl oyment before and after the inposition of the enmbargo, and to know what
steps were being taken by the authorities to reduce unenpl oyment. He would
al so appreciate having sonme figures on underenpl oyment.

28. In view of the economic difficulties being experienced by Irag and the
great range of legislation that appeared to regul ate popul ati on novenents,
M. SADI said that he would |like to know what restrictions applied to Iraqis
wi shing to | eave the country to | ook for work abroad.

29. Noting the | arge gap between the m ni mum wage for a non-skilled worker
(472 dinars in 1994) and the famly welfare allowance (2,229 dinars per nonth
on average), M. ADEKUOYE inquired whether the figures supplied in the witten
replies did not contain an error, since the persons in receipt of such

al  owances were probably not working.

30. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO sai d that she was concerned about the second
part of the witten reply to question 9 concerning legal or traditiona
obstacles to the enpl oyment of wonen at all levels. She wondered whether, as
in the case of Spanish society, which was also traditional, lraqi society had
evol ved and whether nen were participating nmore in household tasks and in the
education of their children, whether wonen had a secondary role in the

marri age and whet her sexual discrimnation had di sappeared from schoo

t ext books. She woul d wel cone nore information on those various matters.

31. M. DHARY (lraq), replying to M. Texier, said that before the enbargo
Irag had resol ved the probl em of unenploynment and had even needed manpower in
various sectors to help in rebuilding the country. The nunber of foreign

wor kers coming fromall parts of the world had been extrenely high, and there
had been many Europeans anong them After the inposition of the embargo,
however, those workers had | ost their jobs. That phenonenon had affected many
peopl e, since a |large nunber of public as well as private sector enterprises
had been forced to close for the reasons already explained. He was not in a
position to supply any statistics on unenploynment. He was not sure whether
such figures were avail able but he would ask the conpetent authorities and, if



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 34
page 7

t hey could be obtained, he would have themtransmtted to the Conmttee as
soon as possible. Oherwi se, he woul d nmake arrangenents for the rel evant
statistics to be prepared.

32. As to the question of restrictions applicable to Iraqis wishing to | eave
the country, whether for purposes of tourismor to | ook for work, there were
no | egal restrictions other than the requirenment that women had to be
acconpani ed by nmales of their own kin, and the fact that anyone |eaving Iraq
territory had to pay a tax for passports and visas. There were sone
restrictions of an administrative nature, such as those involving conpliance
with the terms of a duly concluded contract of enploynment, and a debtor who
was being taken to court nmight be deprived of the right to | eave the country
until his debt had been settled.

33. Replying to M. Adekuoye, he said that the difference between the

m ni mum wage for an unskilled worker and the famly welfare all owance was due
to the fact that the all owance was intended not for one person but for severa
menbers of a family. The figures provided were, however, insignificant:
before the inposition of the enbargo, the ampbunt of the all owance had provi ded
for the needs of a whole fanily, but because of the ranpant inflation in Iraq
it was now scarcely enough to neet the needs of one person for nore than

10 days. Undue attention should not be paid to those figures if the Conmttee
wi shed to forman accurate picture of the situation prevailing in the country.

34. In response to the question from Ms. Jinenez Butraguefio concerning the
evolution of lraqgi society, he recalled that only 50 years previously Iraq
wonen had been obliged to wear the veil; society had evol ved considerably, in

a very short period of time. As already indicated, lraqi wonmen now occupi ed
posts of responsibility in various sectors, and nen were increasingly
participating in donestic tasks and in the education of their children

Article 7

35. Wth regard to working hours, M. RIEDEL asked whet her the exceptions
provided for by article 62 of the Labour Act, as mentioned in the witten
replies, did not jeopardize respect for the legally fixed working hours.

36. M. DHARY (Iraq) replied that the | aw was perfectly clear on that point.
It allowed the | egal working hours to be exceeded only in exceptional cases.
Overtinme was renunerated at double the normal rate in the case of night work
or work under arduous or hazardous conditions, and the rate was 50 per cent

hi gher for overtine worked during the day.

37. Referring to paragraph 28 of the report, and in particular to

article 2.3 of Labour Act No. 71 of 1987, which stated that “work is a sacred
duty that is ordai ned by honour and exacted by the inperative to participate
in the building, devel opnment and prosperity of society”, M. ANTANOVICH

i nqui red whether Iraq had undertaken a reformof its |abour |egislation to
take account of the current situation of unenploynent in the country and to
align that legislation with the standards adopted by the internationa

organi zations, in particular |ILO




E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 34
page 8

38. M. DHARY (Iraqg) pointed out that the concept enbodied in article 2.3 of

the Act was not a legal one. It was primarily an econonm c and soci al concept,
based on the phil osophical principle that every individual had to be
productive and serve society. In answer to M. Antanovich, he said that the
reformof the law in general, including the | abour |egislation, was a matter

bei ng consi dered by the conpetent authorities.

39. Referring to the rural outm gration that had occurred at a nore
prosperous tine owing to the concentration of devel opment efforts in the
cities to the detrinment of rural areas, and to the nunerous difficulties that
phenonmenon had entailed, M. GRISSA asked whet her people were now returning to
the countryside to aid in food production and to reduce the dependence on
imports in that regard.

40. M. DHARY (lraqg) said that there was indeed a return to rural areas, a
phenonmenon whi ch had begun even before the enmbargo and which had, of course,
accelerated after its inmposition. He thought, like M. Gissa, that
agriculture was actually helping to nitigate some of the economic difficulties
caused by the enmbargo. Wthout that renewed interest in agriculture, nore
than half of Iraq' s popul ation m ght well have perished.

Article 8

41. M. TEXIER, supported by M. THAPALIA, said that the creation of trade
uni ons was a conplicated process that ultimately involved some supervision by
the Mnistry of Labour. Such a procedure did not ensure full trade union
freedomand its corollary, trade union pluralism According to the annua
report of the International Confederation of Free Trade Unions (I CFTU)

i ndependent unions were not authorized in Iraq, the 1987 Act established a
single trade union structure, which was used by the ruling party for its own
propaganda, civil servants and enpl oyees of State-owned enterprises were not
allowed to organize and the law did not provide for the right to bargain
collectively. The right to strike was furthernmore said to be subject to
severe restrictions, including penal sanctions. That situation was

depl orabl e, since the right to strike was formally protected by the Covenant.

42. M . ADEKUOYE said that question 14 had been answered only in genera
terms without offering any clarification as to the type of machinery put in
place to facilitate negotiations between workers and enployers. Were there
provi sions for arbitration when negotiations reached a stalemate? Was the
decision resulting fromany such arbitration binding on the two parties? Ws
there not a risk of skilled workers finding thenselves at the mercy of the
enpl oyers?

43. M. DHARY (Iraq), replying to M. Texier, reverted to the process of
setting up trade unions and pointed out that if the Mnistry of Labour
rejected an application fromthe workers, they could bring the matter before
the [ abour court. That was an inportant |egal safeguard. The right to strike
was enbodied in the | aw and workers could avail themselves of it if the
negoti ati ons were to break down.

44, Regardi ng M. Adekuoye's question about the nmachinery for settling
di sputes, the Labour Act allowed trade unions to apply to the |abour court,



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 34
page 9

whose conpl etely independent judgenent could be appealed. Arbitration was
possi bl e, trade unions and enpl oyers being free to appoint their own
arbitrator.

45. He neverthel ess pronised to take account of M. Adekuoye's comrents and
to recommend that machinery for arbitration be created in his country.

Consi dering the inportance of arbitration, he would |ike nenbers of the
Committee to provide himw th exanples of |egislative instrunments promul gated
inthat field by other countries, so that his Government could exam ne and
perhaps draw inspiration fromthem

46. M. CEAUSU asked whet her public sector enployees could establish their
own trade union or join an existing union. Could workers set up a trade union
in an enterprise where there already was one? Had any | abour disputes led to
strikes in recent years?

47. M. DHARY (lraqg) replied that public sector enpl oyees were subject to
different regulations fromthe Labour Act and enjoyed greater benefits than
workers in the private sector, particularly with regard to pensions. They
were nevertheless entitled to set up trade unions, and there were unions for
architects, engineers, doctors, |awers and others. Any civil servant was
able to join a trade union, although an architect could not, for exanple,

bel ong to a doctors' union. No |law prohibited the creation of a second union
in the sane sector, but that was unknown in practice. It could be argued that
the exi stence of several unions in the sane enterprise would weaken the trade
uni on nmovenent. There had been no strikes in recent years, since the
provi si ons of the Labour Act had been respected during any disputes by both
uni ons and enpl oyers.

48. M. WMER said that, according to ILO, sone Iraqi enployees had been
sentenced to ternms of inprisonnent, or even forced | abour, for sinple

m sconduct in the workplace. That was a matter for concern and required
clarification. It was understandable that an enpl oyee who killed a fellow
wor ker or his boss should be sentenced under the Penal Code, but the
application of penal sanctions for sinple m sconduct was not conpatible with
the right to work.

49. M . ADEKUOYE sai d he understood that workers' benefits were better in
the public sector than in the private sector, in contrast to the situation
obtaining in other countries. He would Iike the delegation to provide a
conparative table of those benefits, including pensions, for the public and
private sectors.

50. M. DHARY (Iraq), replying to M. Wner, said that the Labour Act
contai ned no provision calling for sanctions for ordinary breaches such as
working to rule. An enployee m ght neverthel ess comrit an of fence under the
crimnal |aw by, for exanple, sabotaging industrial equipnent. Pena
sanctions were naturally applied in such cases. However, there were no pena
sanctions concerning relations between enployers and enpl oyees.

51. Replying to M. Adekuoye, he confirmed that, under the |aw on the public
service dating from 1936, benefits for persons enployed in the public sector



E/ C. 12/ 1997/ SR. 34
page 10

were better than those for persons working in the private sector. However,
t he conbi ned effects of the enbargo and the fall in the dinar had seriously
eroded t he purchasing power of civil servants.

Article 9

52. M. RIEDEL said that, according to the reply to question 21, Islam and
the Constitution provided for ol der persons to be supported by their children
and required the State to assure them of a decent living, yet the exanple
given by way of illustration related only to disabled persons. The role of
the famly in Miuslimsocieties was certainly extrenely inportant and a

consi derabl e asset, but what exactly were the State's obligations towards

ol der persons and how were the authorities fulfilling thenf

53. M. CRISSA said that Iraq's current situation, which could be regarded
as tenporary and exceptional, was nmarked by galloping inflation. That was due
to the fact that the Covernnent, faced with dwindling fiscal receipts, had
been obliged to print nore noney to neet its expenses. Once that situation
came to an end, what did the State intend to do to conpensate for the |oss of
income incurred by Iraqgis, and particularly by nmenbers of di sadvantaged groups
whose savi ngs and pensi ons had been wi ped out by inflation?

54. Ms. JIMENEZ BUTRAGUENO, follow ng up on M. Riedel's question
requested some clarification about the relationship between the replies to
guestions 18 and 21. Wuld retirees have their pensions reduced because they
were supported by their children? Wre pensions to be revalued to conpensate
for the | oss of purchasing power caused by inflation?

55. The CHAI RPERSON said that the Iraqi del egation would reply to those
guestions at the next neeting.

The neeting rose at 6.05 p. m




